
 1 

LARIMER COUNTY DISTRICT COURT 
STATE OF COLORADO 

 
201 LaPorte Ave 
Fort Collins, CO 80521 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

▲ COURT USE ONLY ▲     
 
JON SIERS, individually and as parent and Next Friend of  
S.S., a minor child, 
Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
OFFICER MATT SYCHLA, 
OFFICER JEREMIAH WOOD, and 
OFFICER EVAN DUNLAP, 
Defendants. 
 

Case Number:  

2022CV 

 

 

 

 

Division:   

Attorney for Plaintiff: 
Sarah Schielke, #42077               P: (970) 493-1980 
The Life & Liberty Law Office       F: (970) 797-4008 
1209 Cleveland Avenue 
Loveland, CO 80537 
sarah@lifeandlibertylaw.com 

 
COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

  
 
 COMES NOW the Plaintiffs, Jon Siers, individually and as parent on behalf of S.S., 
his minor child, by and through the undersigned counsel, with this Complaint and Jury 
Demand and in support of the same, respectfully submits as follows: 
 

INTRODUCTION 
1. Plaintiffs bring this civil rights action pursuant to § 13-21-131, C.R.S. to include 

compensatory damages and attorneys fees, stemming from Defendants’ violations of 
Plaintiffs’ rights guaranteed by Article II, Section 7 of the Colorado Constitution.  

 
2. The Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims pursuant to § 13-21-131, C.R.S., § 13-1-

124(1)(b), C.R.S., because the acts giving rise to the claims were committed in the State 
of Colorado.  

 
3. Pursuant to C.R.C.P. 98(c)(5), venue is proper in this Court, which Plaintiffs designate as 

the place of trial for this action.  
 

4. Jurisdiction supporting Plaintiffs’ claim for attorney’s fees is conferred by 42 U.S.C. § 1988 
and § 13-21-131(3).  
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PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Jon Siers is a resident of the State of Colorado. He resides in Loveland, Larimer 
County, Colorado presently and at all times relevant to this Complaint. Mr. Siers is father 
to and has sole decision-making authority for his daughter, S.S.  

 
6. Plaintiff S.S. is a minor child and daughter to Mr. Siers. She 

was fourteen years old at the time of the events described in 
this Complaint. She resides in Loveland, Larimer County, 
Colorado presently and at all times relevant to this Complaint. 
She brings her claims by and through her father Jon Siers, as 
Next Friend.  

 
7. Defendant Loveland Police Officer Matthew Sychla (“Officer 

Sychla”) was at all times relevant to this complaint duly 
appointed and sworn as a police officer working for the 
Loveland Police Department. Officer Sychla is a named 
Defendant in his individual capacity. 

 
8. Defendant Loveland Police Officer Jeremiah Wood (“Officer 

Wood”) was at all times relevant to this complaint duly 
appointed and sworn as a police officer working for the 
Loveland Police Department. Officer Wood is a named 
Defendant in his individual capacity. 

 
9. Defendant Loveland Police Officer Evan Dunlap (“Officer 

Dunlap”) was at all times relevant to this complaint duly appointed and sworn as a police 
officer working for the Loveland Police Department. Officer Dunlap is a named Defendant 
in his individual capacity. 

 
10. All of the events described herein occurred in the City of Loveland and the State of 

Colorado.  
 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 
11. On June 20, 2020, minor child S.S. was fourteen years old. She lived with her father, Jon 

Siers.  
 
12. S.S. had been dating an 18-year-old named Elijah Hall. Around lunchtime that day, S.S. 

rode her bike to the nearby Safeway grocery store and found Mr. Hall there. He was 
walking around the parking lot, shirtless. He was with another female.  

 
13. S.S. believed that Mr. Hall had been cheating on her with this other female. She began to 

cry. She then summoned up the courage to confront him about his infidelity. She took a 
deep breath and marched right up to him in the Safeway parking lot.  

 
14. S.S. told Mr. Hall that he had been unfaithful to her, that their relationship was over, and 

that he needed to return back to her all the property that she had left at his house, like her 
unicorn, her bungee cord, and her keychains. Mr. Hall responded by telling her that they 
had never even been in a relationship. She may have thought that they were together, he 

S.S. and her Dad Jon Siers 



 3 

informed her, but he never did – so his hooking up with other girls didn’t qualify as 
cheating.   

 
15. Mr. Hall’s statement, quite untrue, and seemingly only intended to deeply wound S.S., 

was successful in the endeavor.  
 

16. S.S., now hurt and humiliated, slapped Mr. Hall. Sobbing, she got back on her bicycle and 
rode away.  

 
17. The slap did not cause Mr. Hall injury. It did not even leave a mark.  
 
18. The commotion caused by S.S. and Mr. Hall yelling at one another in the Safeway parking 

lot resulted in someone there calling the Loveland Police Department.  
 

19. Loveland Police Officers Evan Dunlap and Jeremiah Wood responded to the scene. They 
located Mr. Hall and interviewed him to find out what had occurred. Mr. Hall recounted the 
events. He told the officers that he was 18 years old and that S.S. was 14 years old. He 
told them that she had gotten really upset after he told her they had never been dating 
and that she had slapped him and then left.  

 
20. The officers asked Mr. Hall if he wanted to press charges against S.S. for the slap. He 

asked what that would entail. They said he’d need to fill out some information in a packet. 
This was too much paperwork for Mr. Hall. Mr. Hall said that if he had to fill out a packet 
then he’d rather “just pass.”  

 
21. As it happened, Officer Dunlap was field training Officer Wood at that time. It was the 

middle of the day and there was little else to do. They were bored.  
 

22. Officer Dunlap decided he would ignore Mr. Hall’s wishes and all common sense and 
would instead use this child’s slap as a chance for Officer Wood to get more experience 
practicing a domestic violence arrest. He figured it would especially be great training 
because it would allow Wood to go through the process of charging someone for a 
domestic violence offense but at the lowest level of difficulty imaginable in making the 
arrest since they would be charging a literal child with the crime.  

 
23. So, Officer Dunlap and Officer Wood, after discussing the plan above, grabbed some 

witness statement forms and then went back to Mr. Hall to continue interviewing him. They 
asked Mr. Hall to explain and describe the slap some more. They directed him to fill out a 
form describing the slap.  

 
24. On that form, next to the statement, “The actions of the suspect caused me physical pain,” 

Mr. Hall marked “no.”  
 
25. Officer Dunlap and Officer Wood, undeterred, pressed on. They next went around the 

Safeway parking lot to interview people, seeing if there might be any witnesses to this 
slap willing to fill out written statements. They found three people who had at least heard 
the confrontation and had them complete statements. 
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26. After talking to Mr. Hall and his female companion as well as other witnesses for over 25 
minutes, the officers once again asked him if he wanted to press charges and he again 
told them he did not.  

 
27. The officers got back in their patrol car. Officer Wood exclaimed, “well shoot, what do we 

do now?” Officer Dunlap stated that they would next track down S.S. They then sat in the 
parking lot discussing the various steps of their plan to arrest and criminally charge 14-
year-old S.S. for domestic violence assault. They found phone numbers for S.S. and her 
dad, Jon Siers, and began repeatedly calling them both. Neither answered. 

 
28. The officers decided they would next go to Mr. Siers’s home to look for S.S. They called 

for additional back up officers to accompany them.  
 
29. Now nearing more than an hour after this child’s parking lot slap, four uniformed and 

armed officers of the Loveland Police Department converged upon the Siers home. They 
surrounded the house and began banging on doors, windows, and yelling for S.S. to come 
out.  

 
30. There was no sign of S.S. or Mr. Siers at the house. The four LPD officers were 

undeterred. They waited there for 20 minutes. Everyone in the neighborhood watched as 
this fleet of cops stood guard at the Siers home, intermittently going to bang on its 
windows and doors demanding S.S. come out.  

 
31. The officers walked up to neighbors and asked if they had seen S.S. They demanded that 

members of S.S.’s neighborhood and community provide descriptions of the vehicle that 
Mr. Siers drove and accounts of when they had seen them last. All the neighbors looked 
on, aghast, wondering what horrible crime Mr. Siers or S.S. must have committed to have 
generated such a massive and insistent police response.  

 
32. Eventually the four Loveland officers decided to accept that Mr. Siers and S.S. were not 

home and not arriving home anytime soon. They left, but continued calling Mr. Siers’s 
phone repeatedly.  

 
33. Every officer involved here knew how to apply for an arrest warrant if there was probable 

cause to arrest this child for a crime. However no officer here attempted to obtain one 
because no officer here wanted any judge or magistrate to weigh in on their absurd plan 
to arrest and charge a literal child with criminal domestic violence assault over a slap.  

 
34. Every officer involved here knew that what they were doing was violation of department 

policy and a perversion of all notions of community caretaking. However they were bored 
and knew that at the end of the day, all their superiors at LPD cared about was how many 
arrests they had made that day.  

 
35. LPD had an actual practice, known to all employees, that officers were expected to 

accomplish at least 10 citations per day. Officers who did not regularly accomplish this 
quota (which everyone went out of their way to claim was not a quota) would be 
reprimanded by supervisors and would not receive promotions or desirable shifts. It was 
the known practice and custom at LPD that those officers who achieved the highest 
quantities of arrests and citations would receive promotions and desirable shifts.  
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36. This reality has been documented by outside agencies who have investigated the 

Loveland Police Department.  
 

37. Chain of command at LPD did not care how its officers met their 10-enforcement-actions-
per-day quotas. They did not care if it meant arresting children. All that mattered was 
whether a citation was issued.   

 
38. In pursuit of achieving their arrest quotas, even if it mean arresting children for non-

existent crimes, LPD officers (including Officers Dunlap, Wood, and Sychla) acted with 
malice.  

 
39. Later that day, Mr. Siers arrived home from work. Mr. 

Siers worked as a butcher at a grocery store and did 
not get home that Saturday until the late afternoon. S.S. 
met him at home and told him that her bike was broken 
and needed repair. Mr. Siers, a doting and loving father 
who would do anything for his only daughter, did not 
even have a bite of food or take a moment to sit down 
and rest. Instead, he went right outside to begin working 
on repairing S.S.’s bicycle for her.  

 
40. Mr. Siers and S.S. had two beloved little dogs: 

Montana, a chihuahua, and Skippy, a Jack Russell 
Terrier. They had just spent the day inside the house 
and Mr. Siers was eager to give the dogs some fresh 
air outside while he fixed S.S.’s bike. He had long 
leashes upon which they could both be tied (affixed to 
the house) so that the dogs could walk around the 
immediate area of the front of his home. He secured 
them to the lines.  

 
41. Then, while seated with the bicycle and his tools, ready to begin repair, Mr. Siers looked 

at his phone. He saw that he had many missed calls. He listened to the voicemails and 
learned that the Loveland Police Department was looking for his daughter. They said they 
just wanted “to talk” with S.S. about “an incident” that had happened earlier that day.  

 
42. Completely unaware of their actual intentions, Mr. Siers called back and told LPD that he 

and S.S. were at their home.  
 

43. Officers Wood and Dunlap, now with yet another Loveland Police officer, Officer Matt 
Sychla, raced to the Siers home to make the arrest.  

 
44. It was now nearly three hours after S.S.’s grocery store parking lot slap. Still, no one at 

LPD had applied for a warrant.  
 

45. When they arrived, only Mr. Siers was outside. They of course did not have a warrant for 
S.S.’s arrest and so Officer Wood went up to Mr. Siers and asked that he call S.S. out of 
the home. Officer Wood again stated that he simply needed “to talk” to S.S. 

S.S. and Skippy 
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46. Mr. Siers called his daughter out of the house. She came out.  
 

47. S.S. came out and the officers surrounded her. They began questioning her about her 
encounter with Mr. Hall earlier that day at the Safeway parking lot.  

 
48. The officers questioned her until she admitted to the slap. As soon as S.S. admitted to the 

slap, Officer Wood – without warning – put hands on her to arrest. He told her she was 
under arrest for assault and began to put handcuffs on her.  

 
49. Loveland PD’s own handcuffing policy directs that juveniles age 14 and under should “not 

be restrained unless he/she is suspected of a dangerous felony.” Officers Dunlap, Wood, 
and Sychla ignored this policy. They literally planned, for hours, to violate this policy with 
respect to S.S., for their own entertainment.   

 
50. Mr. Siers stood up from where he had been working on the bike. He was in utter disbelief. 

He demanded that they stop handcuffing his child. He told the officers she was 14 years 
old and this arrest was completely wrong.  

 
51. Officer Sychla immediately went to block Mr. Siers from going to his daughter. He told him 

he could not go to her. He ordered Mr. Siers to drop the bicycle wrench he was holding. 
Mr. Siers instantly complied and dropped the wrench to the ground.  

 
52. Mr. Siers again exclaimed that handcuffing his child was not ok. Officers Wood and 

Dunlap ignored him and began twisting S.S.’s arms back into the handcuffs. S.S. began 
to cry.  

 
53. The dogs, Skippy in particular, began to sense that the family was being harmed by these 

strangers. Doing exactly what Jack Russell Terriers are known to do, little Skippy began 
to bark at the officers, in a show of protection.  

 
54. Noticing this, and not wanting his dog to be shot (Loveland Police had just shot and killed 

another family’s harmless puppy just 11 months prior to this), Mr. Siers told Officer Sychla 
that he needed to get his dog to put him inside. Sychla told him he could not get his dog. 
Sychla violently shoved Mr. Siers backwards as he told him this.  

 
55. Officer Sychla’s sudden and unprovoked assault on Mr. Siers alerted Skippy to the fact 

that his family was now under literal attack. As such, Skippy began to make little charging 
motions at the officers as he barked. Mr. Siers knew from experience that Skippy would 
probably start to bite at the officers very soon. Mr. Siers at this moment became consumed 
with one purpose, and one purpose only: getting Skippy secured safe inside the house 
before the officers used a bite as an excuse to shoot Skippy dead right before his and his 
daughter’s eyes.  

 
56. Mr. Siers again begged Officer Sychla to be permitted to secure his dog and reminded 

him that it was for everyone’s protection. He began to walk around Officer Sychla (away 
from S.S.) towards Skippy to pick him up. Officer Sychla took great offense to Mr. Siers’s 
prioritizing the safety of his dog rather than standing at complete subjugation to Sychla’s 
desires. So even though Mr. Siers was actually moving away from the other officers and 
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only going towards his barking dog, Sychla decided (as he loved to do) that it was now a 
use of force free-for-all.  

 
57. Sychla leapt after Mr. Siers and grabbed his arms, attempting to do a twistlock maneuver 

to stop him from reaching his dog. This is a painful compliance maneuver that, when done 
correctly, involves twisting the subject’s arm violently and suddenly behind their back.  

 
58.  Officer Sychla did not do it correctly, however. He whiffed at grabbing Mr. Siers’ arm and 

Mr. Siers was able to continue walking to his dog. Embarrassed, Officer Sychla took two 
big lunges towards Mr. Siers and then did a massive, violent, two handed push into Mr. 
Siers’s entire body, sending him down to the ground.  

 
59. Despite this violence, Mr. Siers managed to stay mostly upright and, while continuing to 

exclaim to Sychla that he was just getting his dog, because otherwise his dog was going 
to “start biting everybody,” Mr. Siers reached Skippy and bent down to pick him up.  

 
60. Officer Sychla at this point was solely interested in punishing Mr. Siers with excessive 

force. He pushed Mr. Siers yet again, causing Mr. Siers to miss grabbing Skippy, and 
leading Mr. Siers to scramble away from Sychla into the parking spaces in front of his 
home.  

 
61. S.S., witnessing all of the madness and violence around her, began having a panic attack.  

 
62. Making matters considerably worse was the fact that S.S. had just gotten her period that 

day. It was only the fifth period she had ever had in her life. And as Officers Wood and 
Dunlap put her into handcuffs, it dawned on S.S. that she hadn’t put a new tampon in after 
just using the bathroom (her dad had called her outside to this event and distracted her 
from that task). In horror at what would happen if she began bleeding all over a police car 
or jail cell, S.S. begged the officers to just let her put a tampon in. They told her no and 
continued handcuffing her. Now in the full on throes of a panic attack, and standing in the 
literal entryway of her home, S.S. began to flail and then collapsed to the ground, crying 
and begging the officers to just permit her to get a tampon before they took her to jail. 

 
63. Meanwhile, Officer Sychla’s attack on her father continued to unfold right before S.S.’s 

eyes. Mr. Siers, now standing far off in the parking spaces in front of their home, screamed 
at Sychla to let him secure his dog. Officer Sychla ignored the request and instead 
unholstered his Taser. Sychla screamed “get on the ground” at Mr. Siers and pointed the 
Taser at him.  

 
64. From 8 feet away, Mr. Siers, not even seeing or processing the Taser, yelled “WHAT ARE 

YOU DOING?” at Officer Sychla. Officer Sychla closed the gap and without 
announcement or warning, fired the Taser into Mr. Siers’s stomach. Mr. Siers collapsed 
to the pavement in pain.  

 
65. Despite Mr. Siers’ already being on the ground and already observably, needlessly  

incapacitated, Officer Sychla continued to hold down the trigger on his Taser in order to  
continue delivering more electrical shock to Mr. Siers’s body, for over five seconds. The 
pain was so severe and debilitating that for several seconds Mr. Siers lost consciousness. 
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66. S.S., witnessing this, began screaming in terror. She pulled away from the officers and 
tried to go to her dad who was now collapsed on the pavement. Officers Dunlap and 
Wood, growing embarrassed at the violent scene created solely as a result of their own 
boredom, increased their violence upon S.S. to force her into handcuff restraints. 

 
67. It is the custom at the Loveland Police Department that when an LPD officer experiences 

embarrassment that that officer will respond by employing excessive force on whomever 
caused them to feel embarrassed. Sychla did that with Mr. Siers here. Officers Wood and 
Dunlap proceeded to do that with S.S. on the concrete stairway of the Siers home.  

 
68. For over two minutes, S.S. screamed and cried in the throes of a panic attack, and Officers 

Wood and Dunlap violently assaulted her trying to get her into handcuffs. This included 
slamming her body and limbs down into concrete multiple times. It also included these 
male adult officers forcibly pushing her entire body against brick wall and concrete, and 
for officer Wood, at times pushing the front of his own body hard up against her back.  
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69. Officers Wood and Dunlap’s violent restraint efforts caused S.S.’s head to hit both 
concrete and brick more than once.  
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70. Several times the officers succeeded in getting S.S. into the handcuffs however the 

handcuffs were made for adults, not children. As a result, S.S.’s hands repeatedly just 
slipped out of the handcuffs as she was in the throes of her panic attack. 
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71. The officers’ effort to violently handcuff and detain this minor child using adult handcuffs 
at her home over a slap was in violation of policy and absurdly unreasonable and 
dangerous.  

 
72. The officers’ violent arrest effort of S.S. caused her to suffer numerous physical injuries, 

including: cuts, scrapes, bruises, and injuries to her wrists. She also hit her head and 
became concussed.  

 
73. Officer Sychla’s violent assault of Mr. Siers caused him extreme pain, trauma, and wounds 

to his chest and stomach.  
 

74. Officers Wood and Dunlap eventually got the handcuffs on S.S. and took her to jail. They 
charged the 14-year-old S.S. with all kinds of criminal offenses, to include: Harassment, 
Domestic Violence, Obstruction, and Resisting Arrest.  

 
75. The Larimer County District Attorney eventually dismissed all the charges against S.S.  

 
76. While Mr. Siers was incapacitated on the ground with Taser probes still in his skin, Officer 

Sychla rolled him to his stomach and handcuffed him. This was extremely painful as well. 
Mr. Siers continued to implore Sychla to please just let him put his dog inside his house 
where the dog would be safe and not at risk of being shot for nipping someone’s hand. 
Sychla continued to ignore him. 

 
77. As a result, Skippy continued roaming around on his leash and did in fact try to nip at the 

officers piling on top of S.S. in the concrete enclave in front of their home.  
 

78. After several minutes, Officer Sychla decided he would remove Skippy by choking and 
kicking the dog into Mr. Siers’s house. 

 
79. Officer Sychla marched up to Skippy, grabbed Skippy’s leash, ripped it up into the air so 

that Skippy was dangling several feet up in the air, hanging by his throat, and then Sychla 
walked the dangling Skippy to the front door of the house to put him inside.  
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80. Upon placing Skippy inside the house, Officer Sychla kicked Skippy in the face. Then he 
slammed the door closed.   

 
81. Officer Sychla then marched over to Mr. Siers, who was still handcuffed on the ground. 

Officer Sychla then stepped on Mr. Siers deliberately, causing him further injury. Sychla’s 
attack upon Mr. Siers also caused Mr. Siers to suffer injury to his shoulder.  

 
82. Being handcuffed and violently assaulted by police while watching them also tase and 

choke her dog was extremely traumatic to S.S. She lives in fear of police and still has 
nightmares about this event.  

 
83. The officers’ violence also caused permanent damage to Skippy. Skippy’s demeanor 

completely changed after this event. He became extremely aggressive with every stranger 
to come near the Siers home. He had never been like that before.  

 
84. Nothing Mr. Siers or S.S. did to try and comfort Skippy could restore him to his more-

friendly previous state. In the months that followed, Skippy remained vigilant and on edge 
whenever in or near the Siers’ home. Eventually, Mr. Siers had no choice but to rehome 
Skippy with family out of state.      

 
85. In the aftermath of this incident, about ten Loveland PD officers arrived on scene. As per 

usual, no one at Loveland PD had anything better to do. They stood around together and 
made jokes about how they in fact did not have anything better to do.  

 
86. The other Loveland PD officers arriving on scene made sure to take dozens of pictures of 

the two little scrapes on the officers and the little bite on Dunlap’s hand from Skippy. They 
took a single photo of the taser probe site on Mr. Siers. They did not take any photographs 
or otherwise attempt to document the injuries they had inflicted on S.S. They did not 
provide S.S. with medical attention despite her visible injuries and their knowledge that 
her head had impacted cement more than once during the officers’ violent arrest effort.    

 
87. Mr. Siers informed Officer Sychla that he had a painful skin condition that was being 

aggravated by how tightly he had applied the handcuffs to him. Officer Sychla ignored him 
and directed the other officers arriving on scene to shut him inside a patrol car.  

 
88. Officer Matt Sychla has a long history of misconduct as a police officer, to include but not 

limited to one occasion on which he was actually criminally prosecuted in 2018 by the 
Larimer County District Attorney’s Office for excessive force and assault of a defenseless 
arrestee. Loveland PD kept him employed and provided him with defense counsel despite 
these criminal charges.  

 
89. Officer Sychla charged Mr. Siers with the crimes of Obstructing a Police Officer and 

Resisting Arrest. He did not have probable cause to charge or detain Mr. Siers with either 
of these crimes.  

 
90. The Larimer County District Attorney’s Office subsequently dismissed the charges against 

Mr. Siers.  
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91. As a result of the Defendants’ violations of Mr. Siers’s and S.S.’s constitutional rights, they 
have suffered damages, humiliation, anxiety, grief, stress, trauma, and depression. They 
have lost and continue to lose sleep. They do not feel safe in their home in Loveland or 
driving anywhere in Loveland. When they see a Loveland Police vehicle their blood 
pressure goes up. S.S. has suffered panic attacks and insomnia. Their lives will never be 
the same.  

 
STATEMENT OF CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 
FIRST SET OF CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

Section 13-21-131, C.R.S. – Unreasonable Seizure 
Excessive Force, Abuse of Dog Skippy, Wrongful Arrest 
Violation of Colorado Constitution, Article II, Section 7 

(Plaintiff Jon Siers against Defendant Sychla) 
 
92. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as if set 

forth fully herein.  
 
93. Defendant Sychla was a police officer under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-31-901(3), employed 

by the City of Loveland and LPD at the time he wrongfully seized, arrested and maliciously 
prosecuted Mr. Siers.   

 
94. Plaintiff Mr. Siers had a protected interest under the Colorado Constitution, article II, § 7 

in being secure in his person and property from unreasonable seizures by law 
enforcement personnel. 

 
95. Officer Sychla unreasonably seized Mr. Siers and utilized excessive force in shoving, 

assaulting, tasing and detaining Mr. Siers, in violation of the Constitution of the State of 
Colorado.  

 
96. Officer Sychla unreasonably seized Mr. Siers’s dog Skippy when he refused to permit Mr. 

Siers to put his dog inside (as required by Colorado statute as set forth in the Dog 
Protection Act), and instead choked and kicked Skippy, causing permanent and 
irreversible damage to Skippy.  

 
97. Officer Sychla unreasonably seized Mr. Siers when he handcuffed him and charged him 

with crimes he did not commit. Officer Sychla did not at any time in his encounter with Mr. 
Siers have probable cause to believe that Mr. Siers had committed a crime.  

 
98. Officer Sychla did not at any time have a warrant authorizing his seizure of Mr. Siers. 
 
99. Officer Sychla violated Mr. Siers’s state constitutional rights by engaging in an unlawful 

seizure of Mr. Siers that was objectively unreasonable in light of the facts and 
circumstances confronting him before, during and after his encounter with Mr. Siers.  

 
100. Defendant Sychla knowingly violated Mr. Elias’s individual rights secured by the bill of 

rights of the Colorado Constitution.  
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101. Defendant Sychla did not act upon a good faith and reasonable belief that his actions 
were lawful.  

 
102. The acts or omissions of Defendant Sychla were the moving force behind, and the 

proximate cause of, injuries sustained by Mr. Siers. 
 
103. Defendant Sychla’s wrongful arrest and humiliation of Mr. Siers caused him to 

experience extraordinary stress, expense, depression, terror and anxiety. The experience 
of this event caused and continues to cause Mr. Siers trauma and emotional distress, loss 
of any feeling of safety or security, along with other damages and injuries described 
herein. 

 
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Section 13-21-131, C.R.S. – Violation of Due Process 
Malicious Prosecution 

Violation of Colorado Constitution, Article II, Section 25 
(Plaintiff Jon Siers against Defendant Sychla) 

 
104. Plaintiff Mr. Siers incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if set forth fully herein.  
 
105. Defendant Sychla was a police officer under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-31-901(3), 

employed by the City of Loveland and LPD at the time he wrongfully seized, arrested and 
maliciously prosecuted Mr. Siers.   

 
106. Section 25 of Article II of the Colorado state constitution guarantees to Mr. Siers the 

right to not be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.  
 

107. Defendant Sychla caused the criminal prosecution against Mr. Siers by falsifying and 
deliberately exaggerating the facts in his report and his Affidavit for Warrantless Arrest, in 
an effort to make it more likely to appear there had been probable cause for Mr. Siers’s 
arrest, and providing those documents to the District Attorney.  

 
108. Defendant Officer Sychla’s false allegations were the sole moving force behind the 

criminal prosecution against Mr. Siers.  
 

109. Defendant Sychla’s actions were done with malice.  
 

110. No probable cause supported the criminal charges Sychla brought against Mr. Siers.  
 

111. The criminal prosecution against Mr. Siers resolved in his favor when the Larimer 
County Court dismissed the case against him on February 4, 2021.   

 
112. Defendant Sychla’s malicious and false prosecution of Mr. Siers caused him to suffer 

further trauma, damages, lost wages, suffering, depression, and despair.  
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THIRD SET OF CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
Section 13-21-131, C.R.S. – Unreasonable Seizure 

Excessive Force, Warrantless Arrest  
Violation of Colorado Constitution, Article II, Section 7 
(Plaintiff S.S. against Defendants Wood and Dunlap) 

 
113. Plaintiff S.S. incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as 

if set forth fully herein.  
 
114. Defendants Dunlap and Wood were police officers under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-31-

901(3), employed by the City of Loveland and LPD at the time they wrongfully seized, 
inflicted violent excessive force upon, and unlawfully arrested S.S.  

 
115. Plaintiff S.S. had a protected interest under the Colorado Constitution, article II, § 7 in 

being secure in her person from unreasonable seizures by law enforcement personnel. 
As a juvenile and vulnerable individual subject to greater risk of trauma and harm from 
governmental violence, she had a heightened interest in being secure from such 
unreasonable seizures by law enforcement personnel. 

 
116. Officers Dunlap and Wood unreasonably seized and arrested S.S., in violation of the 

Constitution of the State of Colorado.  
 
117. Officers Dunlap and Wood did not at any time have a warrant authorizing their arrest 

of S.S. They had nearly three hours to obtain one but deliberately chose not to because 
they knew it would be denied.  

 
118. It was obviously and objectively unreasonable for Officers Dunlap and Wood to 

attempt to handcuff Plaintiff S.S. They knowingly handcuffed her in violation of LPD’s 
handcuffing policy regarding juveniles without need or justification for such excessive 
force. 

 
119. Officers Dunlap and Wood violated S.S.’s state constitutional rights by engaging in an 

unlawful seizure her, utilizing excessive force, all of which was objectively unreasonable 
in light of the facts and circumstances confronting them before and during their encounter 
with S.S. 

 
120. Defendants Dunlap and Wood knowingly violated S.S.’s individual rights secured by 

the bill of rights of the Colorado Constitution.  
 
121. Defendants Dunlap and Wood did not act upon a good faith and reasonable belief that 

their actions in seizing Plaintiff S.S. without a warrant or exigency was lawful.  
 
122. The acts or omissions of the Defendants were the moving force behind, and the 

proximate cause of, injuries sustained by S.S. 
 
123. Defendants Dunlap and Wood’s violent handcuffing and arrest of S.S. caused her to 

experience, in addition to the physical injuries already set forth above, extraordinary 
stress, expense, depression, terror and anxiety. The experience of this event caused and 
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continues to cause S.S. trauma and emotional distress, loss of any feeling of safety or 
security, along with other damages and injuries described herein. 

 
 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
      WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Court enter judgment in their favor and 
against Defendants, and award them all relief as allowed by law and equity, including but not 
limited to: 
 

a. Declaratory relief and injunctive relief, as appropriate; 
 

b. Actual economic damages as established at trial; 
 

c. Compensatory damages, including but not limited to those for past and future 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary losses, physical and mental pain, trauma, grief, anguish, 
stress, fear, anxiety, loss of freedom, loss of liberty, loss of sense of security, and 
other non-pecuniary losses; 
 

d. Punitive or exemplary damages for all claims as allowed by law in an amount to be 
determined at trial; 

 
e. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest lawful rate; 

 
f. Attorney’s fees and costs; and 

 
g. Such further relief as justice requires.  

 
JURY DEMAND 

      Plaintiffs demand a jury trial on all issues so triable.  
 
 
 Respectfully submitted this 15th day of June, 2022. 
 
       THE LIFE & LIBERTY LAW OFFICE 
 
       s/ Sarah Schielke    
       Sarah Schielke, #42077 
       Counsel for Plaintiffs 
       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


